Amount of Growth of Below Benchmark Students with Progress Monitoring Compared to Benchmark Students without Progress Monitoring

A Special Project

Presented to

Dr. Audrian Huff

Heritage College

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirement for the Degree of

Masters of Education

Jamie Arlt

Spring 2007

FACULTY APPROVAL

Amount of Growth of Below Benchmark Students with Progress Monitoring Compared to Benchmark Students without Progress Monitoring

Approved for the Faculty

_____, Faculty Advisor

ABSTRACT

The purpose of the project was to analyze the amount of growth the below benchmark students made with progress monitoring compared to the growth of the benchmark students without progress monitoring. Eleven students were progress monitored once every two weeks from January 2006 to May 2006. The author compared the pretest and posttest *DIBELS* scores of the below benchmark students to the benchmark students by completing a *t*-test. The results stated there was a significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made with progress monitoring.

PERMISSION TO STORE

I, Jamie Arlt, do hereby irrevocably consent and authorize Heritage College Library to file the attached Special Project entitled, <u>Amount of Growth of</u> <u>Below Benchmark Students with Progress Monitoring Compared to Benchmark</u> <u>Students without Progress Monitoring</u>, and make such paper available for the use, circulation and/or reproduction by the Library. The paper may be used at Heritage College Library and all site locations.

I state at this time the contents of this paper are my work and completely original unless properly attributed and/or used with permission.

I understand that after three years the paper will be retired from the Heritage College Library. If I choose, it is my responsibility to retrieve the paper at that time. If the paper is not retrieved, Heritage College may dispose of it.

_____, Author

_____, Date

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
FACULTY APPROVALi
ABSTRACTii
PERMISSION TO STOREiii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiv
LIST OF TABLES
CHAPTER 11
Introduction1
Background for the Project1
Statement of the Problem4
Purpose of the Project4
Delimitations4
Assumptions
Hypothesis
Null Hypothesis7
Significance of the Project7
Procedure
Definition of Terms9
Acronyms11

CHAPTER 2	Page
Review of Selected Literature	
Introduction	12
No Child Left Behind (Ne	CLB)12
Reading Research: Nation	nal Reading Panel13
DIBELS	
Intervention	16
Summary	
CHAPTER 3	
Methodology and Treatment of I	Data20
Introduction	
Methodology	20
Participants	
Instruments	21
Design	21
Procedure	
Treatment of the Data	23
Summary	23
CHAPTER 4	
Analysis of the Data	24
Introduction	
Description of the Enviro	nment24

Page

Hypothesis/Research Question	
Null Hypothesis	26
Results of the Study	27
Findings	29
Discussion	29
Summary	
CHAPTER 5	32
Summary, Conclusions and Recommendations	32
Summary	32
Conclusions	34
Recommendations	34
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	

LIST OF TABLES

Pag
Table 1, "t-test of Pre-Post Test Results for Below Benchmark Students"
Table 2, "t-test of Amount of Growth for Below Benchmark and Benchmark
Students"

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Background for the Project

The school was located in a rural community in central Washington. The elementary school had a population of 480 students in October 2004. The ethnicity of the school involved White, Hispanic, African American, American Indian, and Asian students. Overall, the school was comprised of 57.7% White, 38.1% Hispanic, 1.7% African American, 1.5% American Indian, and 1% Asian. The elementary school consisted of 15.5% transitional bilingual, 12.9% migrant, and 14.5% special education students. There were 68.8% of students in the free or reduced lunch program ("Report Card," 2006).

The elementary school met Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP) for the year of 2004-2005. The scores for the Washington Assessment of Student Learning (WASL) improved in reading, math, and writing from 2003-2004 to 2004-2005. In 2003-2004, 57.1% of the students met the standard for reading. In 2004-2005, 85.7% of the students met the standard. In 2003-2004, 42.9% of students met the math standard. The following year, 2004-2005, 72.7% of students met the math standard. In the area of writing, 41.3% of students met the standard in 2003-2004. In 2004-2005, 44.2% of students met the writing standard ("Report Card," 2006).

Overall, the number of students who met the first grade spring scores for the area of nonsense word fluency on the Dynamic Indicator of Basic Early

Literacy Skills (DIBELS) for the year 2005-2006 was 71%. "*DIBELS* is an assessment instrument that measures how successfully a child is progressing in the critical skills that underlie success in early reading" (Hall, 2006, p. 30). The school has used *DIBELS* as an assessment tool for the past two years. The assessment tool was piloted the first year before implementation (2004-2005).

Read Well was the key reading program for kindergarten and first grade at the elementary school. However, *Read Well* was used as a remedial reading program in second grade. *Read Well* was a direct instruction approach to reading. The program focused on phonemic awareness, phonics, vocabulary, fluency, and comprehension skills. The *Read Well* program also implemented many strategies for English as a Second Language (ESL) students.

Read Well was research-based and data-driven. *Read Well* has reflected the research base in early reading acquisition established in the findings of Adams (1990) and more currently, in the findings of the National Research Council ("Research," 2006). In order for students to have mastered literacy skills, *Read Well* has integrated explicit, systematic instruction, intense themes and content, and structured learning activities (Sprick, 2006).

Walk to Read was an instructional approach in first grade through fourth grade at the elementary school. Four teachers participated in the Walk to Read program at the first grade level. In the Walk to Read program, students were grouped by ability levels and were from multiple classrooms. Each morning at a

specific time, the students were gathered together in specific classrooms for instruction based on the students' reading levels.

Research has suggested ability grouping produced greater achievement gains when students from the same grade level were grouped by ability for reading instruction such as Walk to Read. Achievement was successful when the level and pace of instruction were adapted to students' needs and students were not regrouped for more than two subjects (Westchester Institute for Human Services Research, 2002).

Harcourt Brace was a reading program implemented in grades first through fifth. In first grade, *Harcourt Brace* was implemented after the students had graduated from the *Read Well* program. In second grade through fifth grade, *Harcourt Brace* was integrated as the key reading curriculum.

The reading program titled, *Harcourt Trophies*, was a research-based, developmental reading and language arts program. *Harcourt Trophies* implemented specific skills to ensure successful reading for every student. The skills included "explicit phonics instruction, direct reading instruction, guided reading strategies, phonemic awareness instruction, systematic, intervention strategies, integrated language arts components, and state-of-the-art assessment tools" ("Harcourt Trophies," 2006, ¶ 1).

Statement of the Problem

The author researched the effects of progress monitoring intervention. The below benchmark students received progress monitoring intervention from January 2006 to May 2006. The growth of the below benchmark students was compared to the growth of the benchmark students.

Purpose of the Project

The purpose of the project was to analyze the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when the students received progress monitoring compared to the growth of the benchmark students not receiving progress monitoring. Progress monitoring focused on the area of nonsense word fluency. The author predicted the progress monitoring intervention helped the below benchmark students achieve greater than expected growth.

Delimitations

The author was conducting the study on a small number of students. The project was comprised of six benchmark students and eleven below benchmark students for a total of seventeen students. These students were originated from the author's classroom.

The author had chosen to conduct the study from winter to spring rather than fall to winter. From fall to winter, the first grade students needed time to become acquainted with the teacher, classroom, and peers. Based on the students' maturity levels, the author had decided to implement the study from winter to

spring. Another reason the author had chosen this time frame was based on the students' amount of growth from winter to spring.

Another delimitation involved where the students were assessed. For the winter assessment, the students were assessed in different corners of a classroom. For the spring assessment, the students were assessed in the gym with dividers. The *DIBELS* assessment involved individual sub-tests. The individual sub-tests allowed the students one minute to read as much as possible. Since the students were timed on specific sub-tests at different times, there were many timers beeping during various periods. In a compacted environment, such as a classroom, the timers caused the students to become more easily distracted. On the other hand, the gym had a more open environment and there were dividers around the students. The students were less likely to become distracted in the gym compared to the classroom.

The students were assessed by a different group of educators on the winter assessment and spring assessment. On the winter assessment, the students were assessed by five 1st grade teachers and one reading specialist from the school. The author helped conduct the assessment as a first grade teacher. On the spring assessment, the students were assessed by a group of nine retired teachers.

The materials available to the author included one progress monitoring nonsense word fluency student booklet, individual student booklets to record progress monitoring data, timer, clipboard, and pencil. One important factor was

the training the teachers received from the reading specialist on how to administer progress monitoring and the *DIBELS* assessment. The training occurred about one week before the teachers gave the winter assessment to the students. The reading specialist provided many materials and resources for the teachers such as a book titled, "*I've DIBEL'd, Now What?*" The teachers were able to use this book as a guide to answer any questions or concerns about progress monitoring or the *DIBELS* assessment.

Assumptions

The author knew the first graders well enough and had administered many different assessments on the students to know what interventions were appropriate for each individual child. Once the author examined and analyzed the different assessments, the author was able to group the students accordingly for progress monitoring intervention. The author was trained on the curriculum and was appropriately using the material in the classroom. All of the first grade teachers were trained on how to administer progress monitoring within the classroom. The first grade teachers were also trained on administering the *DIBELS* assessment to students. The staff understood the students needed a quiet environment during progress monitoring and the *DIBELS* assessment.

Hypothesis or Research Question

First grade below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention in the area of nonsense word fluency will make greater than expected growth from winter to spring as measured by the *DIBELS* assessment.

First grade below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention in the area of nonsense word fluency will make greater than expected growth from winter to spring as measured by the *DIBELS* assessment when compared to the benchmark students not receiving progress monitoring.

Null Hypothesis

First grade below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention in the area of nonsense word fluency will not make greater than expected growth as measured by the *DIBELS* assessment.

First grade below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention in the area of nonsense word fluency will not make greater than expected growth from winter to spring as measured by the *DIBELS* assessment when compared to the benchmark students not receiving progress monitoring. Significance of the Project

The author realized the importance for students to learn beneficial reading skills throughout the early years of school. The author knew first grade was a time for students to blossom into fluent readers. At the beginning of first grade, students were introduced to basic literacy skills such as how to blend and segment sounds in words. Toward the end of the year, first grade students were expected

to read passages at a fluency rate of 40 words correct per minute. These skills were important for first graders to achieve in order to enter second grade at benchmark. The amount of reading growth students were required to make included the accomplishment of all basic literacy skills needed to become a successful, fluent reader.

Procedure

The author examined the students' *DIBELS* scores from January 2006. When the data was analyzed, the author realized how many students were below benchmark in the area of nonsense word fluency. There were eleven students below benchmark and six students at or above benchmark. The eleven students below benchmark received progress monitoring.

The assessments for *DIBELS* progress monitoring were administered to students below benchmark. If students received scores below benchmark, the scores indicated the students were at risk. The at-risk students needed to receive intervention instruction. The data from progress monitoring allowed teachers to make decisions about whether the intervention of progress monitoring was successful for students or whether students needed a different type of intervention (Hall, 2006).

The development of the instruments used to gather data included preparing materials before progress monitoring began. The teacher created a progress monitoring nonsense word fluency student booklet. The booklet contained twenty

different nonsense word fluency tests. The teacher also made individual student booklets to record progress monitoring data. When the teacher administered progress monitoring, a timer, clipboard, and pencil were also needed.

Progress monitoring intervention started in January 2006, with eleven students below benchmark. The students were progress monitored once every two weeks until the end of May 2006. The author analyzed the data to determine if students were making adequate growth and progress. If the students were not making adequate growth through progress monitoring, then the teacher made a decision to implement another intervention along with progress monitoring.

Progress monitoring continued for about four months until the students were given the spring *DIBELS* assessment. Once the students' scores from the spring *DIBELS* assessment were available, the author analyzed and examined the data to determine the outcome of the hypotheses. The author compared the winter and spring *DIBELS* scores of the below benchmark students to the benchmark students by completing a *t*-test.

Definition of Terms

<u>ability grouping</u>. "Ability grouping is the practice of dividing students for instruction on the basis of their perceived capacities for learning" (Westchester Institute for Human Services Research, 2002, p. 1).

<u>below benchmark</u>. Students have not met the goals on a specific assessment such as *DIBELS*.

<u>benchmark.</u> Students have met or exceeded the goals on a specific assessment such as *DIBELS*.

<u>DIBELS.</u> "DIBELS is an assessment instrument that measures how successfully a child is progressing in the critical skills that underlie success in early reading" (Hall, 2006, p. 30).

direct instruction. "Direct instruction is a model for teaching that emphasizes well-developed and carefully planned lessons designed around small learning increments and clearly defined and prescribed teaching tasks" (National Institute for Direct Instruction, 2006, p. 1).

<u>Harcourt Brace</u>. "Harcourt Brace presents explicit, systematic instruction linked with literature and structured spelling and grammar skills" (Gable, Hansen, & Ruff, 2004, p. 2).

nonsense word fluency. "Nonsense word fluency is the ability to read two-letter and three-letter nonsense words, primarily consonant-vowel-consonant patterns" (Hall, 2006, p. 37).

progress monitoring. "Progress monitoring is assessments that determine if students are making adequate progress or need more intervention to achieve grade level reading outcomes" (Hall, 2006, p. 33).

<u>Read Well</u>. "Read Well is a validated core reading curriculum that teaches students the important building blocks of literacy while providing the foundation and skills to develop lifelong readers" (Sprick, 2006, p. 1).

Acronyms

AYP. Adequate Yearly Progress

DIBELS. Dynamic Indicator of Basic Early Literacy Skills

ESL. English as a Second Language

<u>NCLB</u>. No Child Left Behind

WASL. Washington Assessment of Student Learning

CHAPTER 2

Review of Selected Literature

Introduction

The author chose to discuss four subsets: No Child Left Behind, Reading Research: National Reading Panel, *DIBELS*, and Intervention. Within the first subset, the author described the definition of NCLB and the various goals related to NCLB. Also, under the NCLB Act, the author discussed the importance of reading skills in the early years of school. The author discussed the reading research of the National Reading Panel in the second subset. The author analyzed and examined the National Reading Panel's research on phonemic awareness instruction and phonics instruction. Within the third subset, the author talked about the *DIBELS* measure of nonsense word fluency and the assessment of nonsense word fluency. In the last subset, the author talked about progress monitoring as an intervention tool regarding the *DIBELS* assessment.

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

"The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 embodies the four principles of President George W. Bush's education reform plan: stronger accountability for results, expanded flexibility and local control, expanded options for parents, and an emphasis on teaching methods that have been proven to work" ("Fact Sheet on the Major Provisions of the Conference Report to H.R. 1, the No Child Left Behind Act," 2006, p. 1). The act's goals consisted of providing a better education to every student, including the typically lower performing poor and minorities and raised standards for every child while focusing on meeting the needs of disadvantaged children. The act's goals also focused on having a well qualified teacher in every classroom, as well as providing extra support for low-performing students. Also, incentives were offered for turning around schools in need of improvement (McElroy, 2005).

Research has proven children were more successful in the later years of school when the children were able to read well in the early grades. When children were not successful in reading throughout the early years of school, the children were likely to fall behind and stay behind in the area of academic achievement. Young, proficient readers were more likely to succeed in other subject areas such as math, history, science, literature, geography, and much more. Skillful readers have taken advantage of reading for pleasure and have developed confidence in reading. Inexperienced readers were more likely to drop out of school and were limited to low-paying jobs ("Questions and Answers on No Child Left Behind-Reading," 2006).

Reading Research: National Reading Panel

The instruction of phonemic awareness involved children being taught to focus on and manipulate phonemes in spoken syllables and words. Phonemic awareness instruction qualified as phonics instruction when children were taught

to blend or segment the sounds in words using letters. Phonemic awareness instruction was reviewed and analyzed by the National Reading Panel through correlation studies. The studies recognized phonemic awareness and letter knowledge as the two greatest school-entry predictors of how well children will learn to read during the first two years of instruction (National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, 2000).

The results of the analysis were remarkable. The findings of the study demonstrated when children were taught to manipulate phonemes in words as part of phonemic awareness instruction, the results indicated a significant improvement in reading (National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, 2000).

Phonics instruction entailed the way of teaching reading involving the acquirement of letter-sound correspondences and the use of letter-sound correspondences in reading and spelling. Phonics instruction allowed beginning readers to understand how letters were linked to sounds (phonemes) to form letter-sound correspondences and spelling patterns. Beginning readers learned how to apply the knowledge of letter-sound correspondences in reading. Phonics instruction should be integrated with additional reading instruction in phonemic awareness, fluency, and comprehension strategies to build a complete reading program (National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, 2000).

The findings from the National Reading Panel study of phonemic awareness instruction indicated how systematic phonics instruction improved children's success in learning to read. Systematic phonics instruction was considerably more effective than instruction involving little or no phonics (National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, 2000).

DIBELS

The *DIBELS* measure of nonsense word fluency provided information about a student's skill in phonics. Nonsense words were used to examine whether children applied sound-symbol knowledge in sounding out a word. Real words were not used for the purpose of sound-symbol knowledge in sounding out a word on an assessment regarding the uncertainty of a child previously memorizing the real words. By reading nonsense words fluently and accurately, children were more likely to read real words well. The objective of reading nonsense words involved building fluency while blending sound-symbol relationships using letter patterns. Reading a nonsense word from sight could be impossible when compared to reading a previously memorized sight word (Hall, 2006).

The strongest predictor in *DIBELS* of whether a student read forty words per minute at the end of first grade involved the student's ability to decode nonsense words in the middle of first grade. A child must be able to read fifty letter graphemes or more in one minute to achieve the goal in the middle of first grade for nonsense word fluency. The child would be considered reading at

benchmark for the measure of nonsense word fluency. If a student in the middle of first grade has reached the established goal of reading fifty letter graphemes or more correct per minute, where the vowels were represented as the short sound in nonsense words, the probability of a student reading a passage at benchmark level at the end of first grade would be extremely high (Hall, 2006).

Intervention

The Reading First Assessment Committee provided a definition of progress monitoring, as follows: "Assessments that determine if students are making adequate progress or need more intervention to achieve grade level reading outcomes" (U.S. Department of Education, 2002, p. 153).

Progress monitoring measures were responsive to growth and required multiple forms. Progress monitoring incorporated the appropriate requirements necessary for kindergarten and first grade. After the first semester of first grade, teachers have become interested in monitoring students' progress and simplifying phonemic awareness to reading and spelling. Oral reading fluency and nonsense word fluency were two other *DIBELS* measures of reading integrating the sensitivity to growth and change over a short period of time (Chard & Dickson, 1999).

DIBELS progress monitoring assessments were administered to students receiving a benchmark screening indicating the students were at some level of risk. As a result, the students received intervention instruction. Progress

monitoring was repeated as often as weekly; however, most teachers assessed the intervention students every two to three weeks (Hall, 2006).

The author reviewed the validity and reliability of the *DIBELS* assessment. "The measures were developed upon the essential early literacy domains discussed in both the National Reading Panel (2000) and National Research Council (1998) reports to assess student development of phonological awareness, alphabetic understanding, and automaticity and fluency with the code. Each measure has been thoroughly researched and demonstrated to be reliable and valid indicators of early literacy development and predictive if later reading proficiency to aid in the early identification of students who are not progressing as expected. When used as recommended, the results can be used to evaluate individual student development as well as provide grade-level feedback toward validated instructional objectives" (Hintze, Ryan, & Stoner, p.18).

The data from progress monitoring helped teachers make professional judgments about whether the intervention instruction should be continued or modified. Progress monitoring as an assessment tool helped teachers determine in the beginning weeks of instruction whether the strategies and materials the teachers selected were helping the student succeed. If the intervention was not working, then the teacher was able to make adjustments immediately, rather than waiting until the end of the school year to measure the level of achievement.

Adjusting the intervention instruction was critical regarding the amount of time the student had to reach the benchmark level. By charting a student's progress, the teacher estimated whether the current rate of progress resulted in the student reaching benchmark level at the end of the year (Hall, 2006).

<u>Summary</u>

The author reviewed numerous important pieces of literature. One of the pieces of literature suggested children were more successful in the later years of school when the children were able to read well in the early grades. When children were not successful in reading throughout the early years of school, the children were likely to fall behind and stay behind in the area of academic achievement.

Another piece of literature reviewed by the author demonstrated the importance of children being taught to manipulate phonemes in words as part of phonemic awareness instruction. The findings of the research study indicated a significant improvement in reading.

An additional piece of literature discussed when children were able to read nonsense words fluently and accurately, then the children were more likely to read real words well. The objective of reading nonsense words involved building fluency while blending sound-symbol relationships using letter patterns.

When reviewing literature about *DIBELS* progress monitoring, the author identified how progress monitoring assessments were administered to students

receiving a benchmark screening indicating the students were at some level of risk. The literature also suggested when progress monitoring was used as an assessment tool, the data helped teachers determine in the beginning weeks of instruction whether the strategies and materials the teachers selected were helping the student succeed.

CHAPTER 3

Methodology and Treatment of Data

Introduction

For the study, the author conducted a pretest/posttest for the quasiexperimental research method. The author included a total of 17 first grade students for the study. The author looked at the below benchmark student's scores on the *DIBELS* measure of nonsense word fluency and studied the amount of growth from the pretest to the posttest. The author then reviewed the benchmark student's scores and analyzed the amount of growth from the pretest to the posttest. The below benchmark students received progress monitoring intervention from January 2006 to May 2006. After the intervention, the author analyzed the amount of growth from the pretest to the posttest of the below benchmark students compared to the benchmark students.

Methodology

The author conducted the study and used the experimental research method. "In experimental research, the researcher manipulates at least one independent variable, controls other relevant variables, and observes the effect on one or more dependent variables" (Airasian, Gay, & Mills, 2006, p. 233). Participants

The author performed the study on a total of 17 first grade students. The project was comprised of six benchmark students and eleven below benchmark

students for a total of seventeen students. These students originated from the author's classroom.

Instruments

The materials available to the author included one progress monitoring nonsense word fluency student booklet. The booklet contained twenty different nonsense word fluency tests. Other data gathering devices also needed were individual student booklets to record progress monitoring data, timer, clipboard, and pencil.

The *DIBELS* assessment was a nationally norm-referenced test. According to Good, Gruba, and Kaminski (2001), evidence of reliability and validity for the *DIBELS* assessment was investigated in a series of studies (Good, Gruba, & Kaminski, 2001, p. 283).

<u>Design</u>

The specific kind of design the author used for the experimental study included a pretest/posttest. The pretest was conducted in January 2006 (winter) and the posttest was given in May 2006 (spring). The below benchmark students received progress monitoring intervention from January 2006 to May 2006. After the intervention of progress monitoring, the author wanted to analyze the data and compare the growth from the pretest to the posttest of the below benchmark students as well as compare the growth from the pretest to the posttest of the benchmark students.

Procedure

The author examined the students' winter *DIBELS* scores from January 2006. When the data was analyzed, the author realized how many students were below benchmark in the area of nonsense word fluency. There were eleven students below benchmark and six students at or above benchmark. The eleven students below benchmark received progress monitoring.

The assessments for *DIBELS* progress monitoring were administered to students below benchmark. If students received scores below benchmark, the scores indicated the students were at risk. The at-risk students needed to receive intervention instruction. The data from progress monitoring allowed teachers to make decisions about whether the intervention of progress monitoring was successful for students or whether students needed a different type of intervention (Hall, 2006).

Progress monitoring intervention started in January 2006, with eleven students below benchmark. The students were progress monitored once every two weeks until the end of May 2006. The author analyzed the data to determine if students were making adequate growth and progress. If the students were not making adequate growth through progress monitoring, then the teacher made a decision to implement another intervention along with progress monitoring.

Progress monitoring continued for about four months until the students were given the spring *DIBELS* assessment. Once the students' scores from the

spring *DIBELS* assessment were available, the author analyzed and examined the data to determine the outcome of the hypotheses.

Treatment of the Data

The data was treated statistically by completing a *t*-test from the Stat Pak. The author analyzed the pretest and posttest scores for the below benchmark students and examined the amount of growth the students made from winter to spring. Then, the author reviewed the pretest and posttest scores for the benchmark students and studied the amount of growth from the winter assessment to the spring assessment.

<u>Summary</u>

The author conducted an experimental research method and included a pretest/posttest for the quasi-experimental study. The author implemented an intervention of progress monitoring for the below benchmark students from January 2006 to May 2006. The author examined the below benchmark student's scores on the *DIBELS* measure of nonsense word fluency and studied the amount of growth from the pretest to the posttest. The author then reviewed the benchmark student's scores and analyzed the amount of growth from the pretest to the posttest.

CHAPTER 4

Analysis of the Data

Introduction

The author described the parameters of the environment. The author restated the hypotheses and the null hypotheses. For the results of the study, the author displayed the data and provided a table. The table included the students' pretest and posttest scores. The table stated the amount of growth the below benchmark and benchmark students made from winter to spring on the *DIBELS* measure of nonsense word fluency. The author analyzed and discussed the findings from the *t*-tests for the below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring and the benchmark students not receiving progress monitoring. Description of the Environment

One of the parameters of the project involved the author conducting the study on a small number of students. The project was comprised of six benchmark students and eleven below benchmark students for a total of seventeen students. These students were originated from the author's classroom.

The author had chosen to conduct the study from winter to spring rather than fall to winter. Based on the students' maturity levels, the author had decided to implement the study from winter to spring. Another reason the author had chosen this time frame was based on the students' amount of growth from winter to spring. Another parameter of the project involved where the students were assessed. For the winter assessment, the students were assessed in different corners of a classroom. For the spring assessment, the students were assessed in the gym with dividers. Since the students were timed on specific sub-tests at different times, there were many timers beeping during various periods. In a compacted environment, such as a classroom, the timers caused the students to become more easily distracted. On the other hand, the gym had a more open environment and there were dividers around the students. The students were less likely to become distracted in the gym compared to the classroom.

The students were assessed by a different group of educators on the winter assessment and spring assessment. On the winter assessment, the students were assessed by five 1st grade teachers and one reading specialist from the school. The author helped conduct the assessment as a first grade teacher. On the spring assessment, the students were assessed by a group of nine retired teachers.

The materials available to the author included one progress monitoring nonsense word fluency student booklet, individual student booklets to record progress monitoring data, timer, clipboard, and pencil. One important factor was the training the teachers received from the reading specialist on how to administer progress monitoring and the *DIBELS* assessment. The training occurred about one week before the teachers gave the winter assessment to the students. The reading specialist provided many materials and resources for the teachers such as

a book titled, "*I've DIBEL'd, Now What?*" The teachers were able to use this book as a guide to answer any questions or concerns about progress monitoring or the *DIBELS* assessment.

Hypothesis/Research Question

First grade below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention in the area of nonsense word fluency will make greater than expected growth from winter to spring as measured by the *DIBELS* assessment.

First grade below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention in the area of nonsense word fluency will make greater than expected growth from winter to spring as measured by the *DIBELS* assessment when compared to the benchmark students not receiving progress monitoring.

Null Hypothesis

First grade below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention in the area of nonsense word fluency will not make greater than expected growth as measured by the *DIBELS* assessment.

First grade below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention in the area of nonsense word fluency will not make greater than expected growth from winter to spring as measured by the *DIBELS* assessment when compared to the benchmark students not receiving progress monitoring.

Results of Study

Table 1.

t-test of Pre-Post Test Results for Below Benchmark Students_

Test	Ν	Mean	Standard Deviation
Pre	11	35.73	7.66
Post	11	60.36	13.14
df = 10	t = 5.79		p <.05

The author examined the data of the below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring in the area of nonsense word fluency. The author gathered the pretest and the posttest scores from the winter and spring *DIBELS* measure of nonsense word fluency. The author then examined the amount of growth the below benchmark students made from the pretest to the posttest. The author used the data to conduct a *t*-test.

When the author conducted a *t*-test for the below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring, the *t*-value was 5.79 and the degrees of freedom were 10. The *t*-value was significant beyond the .05 level. The amount of growth the below benchmark students made receiving progress monitoring was significant.

The null hypothesis was rejected. When the author analyzed the data for the below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention, the data supported the hypothesis. The below benchmark students made greater than expected growth from winter to spring as measured by the *DIBELS* assessment. Table 2.

. . . .

t-test of Amount of Growth for Below Benchmark and Benchmark Students			
Test	Ν	Mean	Standard Deviation
Below Benchmark	11	27.10	11.51
Benchmark	6	13.67	24.72
df = 14	t = 1.38		p >.05

The author then conducted another *t*-test for the amount of growth of the below benchmark students and the amount of growth of the benchmark students. The author subtracted the pretest scores from the posttest scores and calculated the amount of growth.

After the *t*-test was conducted, the author analyzed the results of the data. The *t*-value was 1.38 and the degrees of freedom were 14. The *t*-value of 1.38 was not significant at the .05 level. The amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the benchmark students was not significant.

The null hypothesis was accepted. When the author analyzed the data for the amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the growth of the benchmark students, the data did not support the hypothesis. The below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring did not make greater

than expected growth when compared to the benchmark students not receiving progress monitoring.

Findings

One hypothesis was supported and one hypothesis was not supported when the author analyzed the data of the findings. The author analyzed the data for the below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring intervention. The data supported the hypothesis. When the author analyzed the data for the amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the growth of the benchmark students, the data did not support the hypothesis.

The below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring made better than expected growth. The results of the *t*-test stated there was a significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when receiving progress monitoring. The null hypothesis was rejected.

The author analyzed the findings of the *t*-test for the amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the growth of the benchmark students. The findings concluded there was no significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the benchmark students. The null hypothesis was accepted.

Discussion

The author analyzed the data from the *t*-tests. The author concluded from the data and analysis there was a significant difference in the amount of growth

the below benchmark students made when receiving progress monitoring. The author found there was no significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the growth of the benchmark students.

There was not a significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when compared to the benchmark students because the benchmark students received higher pretest scores than the below benchmark students. The author concluded the benchmark students were higher to begin with than the below benchmark students. As a result, the below benchmark students did not make greater than expected growth when compared to the benchmark students.

<u>Summary</u>

The author discussed the parameters of the environment in the beginning of the chapter. The author restated the hypotheses and the null hypotheses. The results for the non-independent *t*-test stated there was a significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when receiving progress monitoring. The hypothesis was supported. The author analyzed the findings for the independent *t*-test for the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when compared to the growth of the benchmark students. The findings concluded there was no significant difference in the amount of growth

the below benchmark students made compared to the benchmark students. The hypothesis was not supported.

CHAPTER 5

Summary, Conclusions and Recommendations

Introduction

The author reviewed the project. The author provided the important aspects of the project and highlighted the main points for each chapter. The author discussed the main features of the project in the summary. The author talked about the conclusions based on the findings of the table. A set of recommendations were given from the author derived from the conclusions. Summary

The author researched the effects of progress monitoring intervention. The below benchmark students received progress monitoring intervention from January 2006 to May 2006. The growth of the below benchmark students was compared to the growth of the benchmark students.

The purpose of the project was to analyze the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when the students received progress monitoring compared to the growth of the benchmark students not receiving progress monitoring. Progress monitoring focused on the area of nonsense word fluency. The author predicted the progress monitoring intervention helped the below benchmark students achieve greater than expected growth.

Progress monitoring intervention started in January 2006, with eleven students below benchmark. The students were progress monitored once every

two weeks until the end of May 2006. The author analyzed the data to determine if students were making adequate growth and progress. If the students were not making adequate growth through progress monitoring, then the teacher made a decision to implement another intervention along with progress monitoring.

When reviewing literature about *DIBELS* progress monitoring, the author identified how progress monitoring assessments were administered to students receiving a benchmark screening indicating the students were at some level of risk. The literature also suggested when progress monitoring was used as an assessment tool, the data helped teachers determine in the beginning weeks of instruction whether the strategies and materials the teachers selected were helping the student succeed.

For the study, the author conducted a pretest/posttest for the experimental research method. The author included a total of 17 first grade students for the study. The data was treated statistically by completing a *t*-test from the Stat Pak. The author compared the growth of the winter and spring *DIBELS* scores of the below benchmark students to the benchmark students.

The author performed a *t*-test for the below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring. The analysis of the *t*-test stated a significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when receiving progress monitoring. The author then conducted a second *t*-test for the amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the benchmark students.

The author analyzed the data and found no significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when compared to the growth of the benchmark students.

Conclusions

The below benchmark students receiving progress monitoring made better than expected growth. The results for the non-independent *t*-test stated there was a significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when receiving progress monitoring. The hypothesis was supported. The author analyzed the findings for the independent *t*-test for the amount of growth the below benchmark students made when compared to the growth of the benchmark students. The findings concluded there was no significant difference in the amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the benchmark students. The findings was not supported.

Recommendations

Based on the conclusions, the author will give a set of recommendations regarding the study. The author suggests the intervention of progress monitoring is a valid and reliable assessment. When progress monitoring the below benchmark students on a consistent basis, the students will achieve at a higher rate based on the scores on the *DIBELS* assessment. As for the amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the benchmark students, the author recommends analyzing the benchmark students' scores compared to the below

benchmark students' scores. This is important because the benchmark students will most likely have higher pretest scores than the below benchmark students. In this case, the data from the *t*-test will state there is no significant difference between the amount of growth the below benchmark students made compared to the benchmark students.

References

- Chard, D. J. & Dickson, S. V. (1999). *Phonological awareness: Instructional and assessment guidelines*. Retrieved July 22, 2006 from <u>http://www.ldonline</u>. org/article/6254
- *Fact sheet on the major provisions of the conference report to H.R. 1, the no child left behind act.* Retrieved July 20, 2006, from <u>http://www.ed.gov/print/nclb/</u>overview/intro/factsheet.html
- Gable, K., Hansen, C. C., & Ruff, W. G. (2004). *Beyond research: Improving how we improve reading*. Retrieved July 24, 2006, from <u>http://www/rapid</u> intellect.com/AEQweb/oct2746.htm
- Gay, L. R., Mills, G. E., & Airasian, P. (2006). *Educational research: Competencies for analysis and applications*. (8th ed.). Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Good, R. H., Gruba, J., & Kaminski, R. A. (2001). Best practices in school psychology IV.
- Hall, S. L. (2006). *I've DIBEL'd, now what: Designing interventions with DIBELS data.* Longmont, Colorado: Sopris West Educational Services.
- *Harcourt Trophies*. Retrieved July 24, 2006, from <u>https://jstore.harcourtschool</u>. com/marketplace/index.html
- Hintze, J. M., Ryan, A. L., & Stoner, G. Concurrent validity and diagnostic accuracy of the Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills and the comprehensive test of phonological processing. Amherst, Massachusetts: University of Massachusetts.
- McElroy, E. J. (2005). *Teaching left behind*. Retrieved July 20, 2006, from ProQuest Database: <u>http://proquest.umi.com.libdb.heritage.edu/pqdweb</u>? Index=4&did=834007281&SrchMode
- National Institute for Direct Instruction. (2006). *Encyclopedia*. Retrieved July 24, 2006, from <u>http://www.reference.com/browse/wiki/Direct_instruction</u>

- National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. (2000). *Report of the National Reading Panel. Teaching children to read: An evidence-based assessment of the scientific research literature on reading and its implications for reading instruction.* Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- National Research Council. (1998). *Preventing reading difficulties in young children*. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Office of superintendent of public instruction: Washington state report card. Retrieved July 13, 2006, from http://reportcard.ospi.k12.wa.us/?schoolId= 808&reportLevel=School&orgLinkId=808&yrs=
- *Questions and answers on no child left behind-reading*. Retrieved July 18, 2006, from <u>http://www.ed.gov/print/nclb/methods/reading/reading.html</u>
- *Research*. Retrieved July 24, 2006, from <u>http://store.cambiumlearning.com/</u> Resource.aspx?page=Research&site=sw&parentId=0190
- Sprick, M. (2006). *Read Well*. Retrieved July 24, 2006, from <u>http://store</u>. Cambiumlearning.com/ProgramPage.aspx?parentId=019005451&function ID=0
- United States Department of Education. (2002). *The reading leadership academy guidebook*. Washington, D.C.: United States Department of Education.
- Westchester Institute for Human Services Research. (2002). *The balanced view: Research-based information on timely topics*. White Plains, New York: Author.

APPENDIX

Data on DIBELS Assessment DIBELS Measure: Nonsense Word Fluency Benchmark Goal = 50

Below Benchmark Students with Progress Monitoring

	Winter	Spring	Amount of Growth
1	43	84	41
2	27	54	27
3	29	75	46
4	49	49	0
5	31	48	17
6	39	53	14
7	30	54	24
8	42	65	23
9	36	80	44
10	43	59	16
11	24	43	19

Benchmark Students without Progress Monitoring

	Winter	Spring	Amount of Growth
1	54	68	14
2	65	70	5
3	52	112	60
4	51	47	-4
5	113	138	25
6	59	41	-18